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8 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

9
\ 9..)5/ NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

10 SAN JOSE DIVISION

11 SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 6.0 03423 RS,
12 COM1VIISSION,

OMP AINT FOR VIOLATIONS
13 Plaintiff, OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES

v. LAWS
14

DARRYL LAMONTH CLARK,
15

Defendant.
16

17 Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission ("Commission")
18 alleges as follows:

19 JURISDICTION AND VENUE

20 1. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections

21 20(b), 20(d)(1), and 22(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act"),
22 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b), 77t(d)(1), and 77v(a), and Sections 21(d)(1),
23 21(d)(3)(A), 21(e), and 27 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

24 ("Exchange Act"), 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d)(1), 78u(d)(3)(A), 78u(e), and 78aa.

25 Defendant has, directly or indirectly, made use of the means or

26 11 instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the mails, or the facilities of a

27 national securities exchange in connection with the transactions, acts,

28 practices and courses of business alleged in this Complaint.
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1 2. Venue is proper pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities Act,

2 15 U.S.C. § 77v(a), and Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78aa,

3 because certain of the transactions, acts, practices, and courses ofconduct

4 constituting violations of the federal securities laws occurred within this

5 U district.

6 INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT

7 3. Under Civil Local Rule 3-2, this civil action should be assigned
8 to the San Jose Division, because a substantial part of the events or

9 omissions which give rise to the claim occurred in Santa Clara County.
10 SUMMARY

11 4. The Commission brings this action against Danyl Lamonth

12 Clark ("Clark") for violating the antifraud and registration provisions of the

13 federal securities laws through his participation in a ponzi-like scheme

14 perpetrated by Terchi "Nelson" Liao ("Liao") and two entities he controlled,
15 AOB Commerce, Inc. and AOB Asia Fund I, LLC (together, "AOB").
16 5. From at least mid-2004 to July 2007 (the "Relevant Period"),
17 AOB and several related entities raised more than $45 million from the

18 unregistered offer and sale of securities in the form ofpromissory notes

19 ("Notes") that, in many cases, paid guaranteed interest up to 5.5% per month

20 to hundreds of investors in several states.

21 6. Although AOB pumorted to be in the business ofmaking loans

22 to companies in Asia, investor proceeds were used primarily to pay principal
23 and interest on the Notes, pay commissions, and make undisclosed loans to

24 entities affiliated with AOB.

25 7. Clark participated in the offer and sale of the Notes. In so doing,
26 he failed to conduct adequate due diligence into the Notes, participated in the

27 creation of a brochure, disseminated to investors, that contained misleading
28 statements, and was not associated with a registered broker-dealer at the time
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1 he participated in the sale of the Notes.

2 8. By engaging in the conduct described in this Complaint, Clark

3 violated the antifraud, securities registration, and broker-dealer registration

4 provisions of the federal securities laws.

5 9. By this Complaint, the Commission seeks permanent

6 injunctions prohibiting further violations, disgorgement with prejudgment
7 interest, and a civil penalty.
8 DEFENDANT

9 10. Darryl Lamonth Clark ("Clark"), age 42, was a resident of

10 Manteca, California during the Relevant Period. Clark worked as a sales

11 agent for AOB from at least July 2004, managed A0B's San Jose, California

12 branch office from 2006 through July 2007, and held the title of vice

13 president of sales and marketing.
14 RELATED PARTIES

15 11. Terchi "Nelson Liao ("Liao"), age 51, was a resident of

16 Arcadia, California during the Relevant Period. He was the sole owner of

17 AOB Commerce, Inc. and AOB Asia Fund I, LLC.

18 12. AOB Commerce, Inc. is a California corporation that was

19 located in Arcadia, California during the Relevant Period. AOB Commerce

20 never registered an offering of securities under the Securities Act, or a class

21 of securities under the Exchange Act. AOB Commerce offered and sold

22 Notes to investors from at least mid-2004. In July 2007, AOB Commerce

23 was placed into Court-ordered receivership.
24 13. AOB Asia Fund I, LLC is a California limited liability company

25 that was located in Arcadia, California during the Relevant Period. AOB

26 Asia Fund began offering Notes to investors in or about 2006 that were

27 indistinguishable from those offered by AOB Commerce, AOB Asia Fund

28 never registered an offering of securities under the Securities Act, or a class

3
Complaint



Case5:09-cv-03423-RS Document1 Filec107/27/09 Page4 of 11

1 of securities under the Exchange Act. In July 2007, AOB Asia Fund was

2 placed into a Court-ordered receivership.
3 THE FRAUDULENT AND UNREGISTERED OFFERING

4 A. The Notes

14. From at least mid-2004 through July 2007, AOB Commerce, Inc.

6 and (beginning in approximately 2006) the AOB Asia Fund I, LLC, raised

7 more than $45 million from approximately 430 investors in at least 12 states

8 through the sale of the Notes.

9 15. The Notes are securities in the form ofpromissory notes.

10 Alternatively, the Notes are securities in the form of investment contracts.

11 16. Neither AOB Commerce's nor AOB Asia Fund's Note offering
12 was registered with the Commission.

13 17. The Notes promised investors interest ofup to 5.5% per month.

14 18. Maturity dates for the Notes ranged from three months to one

15 year. Because the Notes typically rolled over at maturity, some investors held

16 their Notes for years.

17 19, Investor proceeds were pooled and were to be used to make loans

18 to companies in Asia. Although Liao made some loans to Asian companies, the

19 majority of investor funds were used to pay principal and interest on the Notes,

20 pay commissions to sales agents and investors who solicited others to purchase
21 the Notes, and make undisclosed loans to entities affiliated with AOB.

22 B. The Offer and Sale of the Notes

23 20. AOB made almost no written representations and did not

24 furnish audited financial statements to prospective investors. Instead, the

25 Notes were offered and sold principally through oral representations by Liao,

26 AOB' s sales agents, and other investors.

27 21. Liao told prospective investors, or told existing investors who

28 in turn conveyed the information to prospective investors, that their money

4
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1 would become part of a large fund that would be loaned to companies in

2 China that did not qualify for bank loans and therefore were willing to pay

3 AOB a higher interest rate.

4 22. The Notes stated the dates ofmaturity, the promised interest

5 rate and, in many cases, the fact that the interest rate was "guaranteed."
6 23. Many Notes also represented that the investor monies would be

7 used in AOB's "syndication program,
" which was "designed to offer

8 financial services to A0B's overseas... clients."

9 24. AOB maintained a website at www.aobine.com. The website

10 held out AOB Commerce as "a financial services company serving small to

11 large businesses by offering business lending solutions to assist with short-

12 term and long-term financial needs." The website further stated that "AOB

13 Commerce syndicated loan specialists work closely with investors/lenders to

14 raise capital of over $50 million."

15 25. AOB' s website also contained a password-protected entry to a

16 presentation of the investment opportunity provided by the AOB Asia Fund,

17 which was described as "an AOB Commerce guaranteed principal and return

18 product" The password-protected portion of the website devoted to the

19 AOB Asia Fund also represented that "fast growing businesses in Asia look

20 to AOB Commerce for the capital they need for expansion.... The AOB

21 Asia Fund is the source of this capital." The website represented that the

22 AOB Asia Fund offers "secured high returns" of24% per year on one-year

23 investments ofat least $10,000.

24 26. AOB 's sales and operations ceased in July 2007, when the

25 Commission brought an emergency injunctive action to halt the scheme, and

26 a receiver was appointed.'
27

28 SEC v. AOB Commerce, Inc., et al., Civil Action No. CV-07-4507
CAS (JCx) (C.D. Cal. filed July 12, 2007).
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1 C. Clark's Involvement in the Scheme

2 27. In July 2004, Clark became an AOB sales agent, and in 2006

3 Liao put him in charge ofA0B's San Jose, California branch office.

4 Additionally, Clark held the title of vice president of sales and marketing for

5 AOB Commerce. Clark received checks totaling more than $800,000.

6 28. Clark's duties as head ofthe San Jose sales office included

7 assisting Liao in tracking commissions that were to be paid to the San Jose

8 sales staffby preparing a monthly report beginning in approximately 2006.

9 29. As a sales agent, Clark initially received monthly commissions

10 based on the outstanding amount invested by the Note holders he introduced

11 to AOB Commerce. Clark also was entitled to receive sales overrides, i.e. a

12 percentage of each sale made on the Notes by other sales agents in the San

13 Jose office.

14 30. Clark stopped soliciting investments from individuals after he

15 assembled a sales team in San Jose (which ultimately numbered at least six

16 agents) in or about 2006. At or about this time, Clark was placed on salary,

17 which he received in lieu of commissions and overrides.

18 D. Clark's Misrepresentations and Omissions

19 31. Clark failed to perform meaningful due diligence before he

20 became an AOB sales agent in July 2004.

21 32. From the outset ofhis involvement in the Note program, Clark

22 knew of serious accounting deficiencies at AOB involving internal tracking
23 and payment of commissions to sales agents. AOB's payroll and accounting
24 difficulties became more pronounced in 2007, after accusations that AOB

25 and Liao were operating a ponzi-scheme began circulating among investors.

26 Although Clark was aware of these problems, he never asked to examine

27 AOB's books and records, and never questioned why Liao would not permit
28 anyone to examine his financial records.
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1 33. Clark was involved in the preparation of a sales brochure that

2 was distributed to prospective investors in the AOB Asia Fund. The brochure

3 described AOB Asia Fund as an "AOB Commerce guaranteed principal &

4 return product," and represented that investors' principal and interest payments

5 were secured. Clark was aware of several material misrepresentations or

6 omissions that were made in the brochure and/or failed to conduct a sufficient

7 amount of due diligence before making it available to prospective investors.

8 For example, the brochure represented that "AOB has the highest trained

9 project underwriting team in the industry [with] over 15 years ofexperience
10 in the Asia Marketplace." Although Clark knew that Liao was the primary
11 member of the team, he allowed the solicitation materials to be disseminated

12 from the San Jose sales office, giving the false impression of a much larger

13 "team" ofprofessionals and experts with years of experience.
14 34. Clark also participated in the creation of a second brochure in

15 approximately 2006, which purportedly was to be used for the loan

16 brokering side ofAOB' s business. This brochure was also disseminated to

17 prospective investors by at least one AOB sales agent. Clark was involved

18 in researching the text of the brochure, and reviewed the document prior to

19 its publication. The brochure includes a section concerning the corporate

20 finance services purportedly offered to AOB's clients, and describes the

21 activities of the company's corporate finance "specialists." Yet, Liao was

22 the only person that Clark was aware of at AOB with this type ofexperience.
23 E. Clark's Failure to Register as a Broker or Dealer While

24 Involved in the Sale of Notes

25 35. Clark, himself and through the sales agents he managed,

26 solicited investors to purchase Notes, and directly or indirectly received

27 transaction-based compensation.
28 36. Clark was neither registered as a broker-dealer nor associated

7
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1 with a registered broker-dealer while facilitating and participating in the sale

2 of securities.

3 FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

4 UNREGISTERED OFFER OR SALE OF SECURITIES

5 Violations of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act

6 37. The Commission re-alleges and incorporates by reference

7 paragraphs 1 through 36 above.

8 38. Clark, by engaging in the conduct described above, directly or

9 indirectly, made use of the means or instruments of transportation or

10 communication in interstate commerce or of the mails, to offer to sell or to

11 sell securities, or to carry or cause such securities to be carried through the

12 mails or in interstate commerce for the purpose of sale or for delivery after

13 sale.

14 39. No registration statement was filed or in effect with the

15 Commission pursuant to the Securities Act with respect to the offering
16 described herein.

17 40. By engaging in the conduct described above, Clark violated,
18 and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to violate Sections 5(a) and

19 5(c) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c).
20 SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

21 FRAUD IN THE OFFER OR SALE OF SECURITIES

22 Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act

23 41. The Commission re-alleges and incorporates by reference

24 paragraphs 1 through 36 above.

25 42. Clark, by engaging in the conduct described above, directly or

26 indirectly, in the offer or sale of securities by the use ofmeans or

27 instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or by
28 use of the mails, with scienter: (a) employed devices, schemes, or artifices

8
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1 to defraud; (b) obtained money or property by means of untrue statements of

2 a material fact or by omitting to state a material fact necessary in order to

3 make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they

4 were made, not misleading; or (c) engaged in transactions, practices, or

5 courses ofbusiness which operated or would operate as a fraud Or deceit

6 upon the purchaser.
7 43. By engaging in the conduct described above, Clark violated,

8 and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to violate, Section 17(a) of

9 the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a).
10 THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

11 FRAUD IN CONNECTION WITH THE PURCHASE OR SALE OF

12 SECURITIES

13 Violations of Section I0(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule lOb-5

14 Thereunder

15 44. The Commission re-alleges and incorporates by reference

16 paragraphs 1 through 36 above.

17 45. Clark, by engaging in the conduct described above, directly or

18 indirectly, in connection with the purchase or sale of a security, by the use of

19 means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, of the mails, or of the

20 facilities of a national securities exchange, with scienter: (a) employed
21 devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of a

22 material fact or omitted to state a material fact necessary in order to make

23 the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were

24 made, not misleading; or (c) engaged in acts, practices, or courses of

25 business which operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon other

26 persons.

27 46. By engaging in the conduct described above, Clark violated,

28 and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to violate, Section 10(b) of

9
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I the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 1011-5 thereunder, 17 C.F.R.

2 § 240.10b-5.

3 FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

4. FAILURE TO REGISTER AS A BROKER-DEALER

5 Violations of Section 15(a) of the Exchange Act

6 47. The Commission re-alleges and incorporates by reference

7 paragraphs 1 through 36 above.

8 48. Clark, by engaging in the conduct described above, directly or

9 indirectly, made use of the mails or means or instrumentalities of interstate

10 commerce to effect transactions in, or to induce or attempt to induce, the

11 purchase or sale of securities, without being registered as a broker or dealer

12 in accordance with Section 15(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78o(a).
13 49. By engaging in the conduct described above, Clark violated,

14 and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to violate, Section 15(a) of

15 the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78o(a).
16 PRAYER FOR RELIEF

17 WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court:

18 1.

19 Issue findings of fact and conclusions of law that Clark committed the

20 violations of the federal securities laws alleged herein.

21 U.

22 Issue judgments, in a form consistent with Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(d),
23 permanently enjoining Clark and his officers, agents, servants, employees,
24 and attorneys, and those persons in active concert or participation with any

25 of them, who receive actual notice of the judgment by personal service or

26 otherwise, and each of them, from violating Sections 5(a), 5(c), and 17(a) of

27 the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a), 77e(c), and 77q(a), and Sections

28 10(b) and 15(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) and 78o(a), and

10
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